2010

White Cap Construction Supply, Inc. v. Star Mountain Construction, Inc., et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court had appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j) and Utah R. App. P. 3 and 4. The Utah Court of Appeals now has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 78A-3-102(4) and 78A-4-103(2)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue No. 1: *Was Daedalus USA, Inc. (“Contractor”) entitled under the subcontract to withhold payment from Shamrock Plumbing, LLC (“Subcontractor”)?*

Standard of Review: “When [. . .] a contract is unambiguous and can be interpreted as a matter of law, we review the district court’s interpretation for correctness, according no deference to the district court.” *Mid-America Pipeline Co. v. Four-Four, Inc.*, 2009 UT 43, ¶ 16, 216 P.3d 352 (citing *Peterson v. Sunrider Corp.*, 2002 UT 43, ¶ 14, 48 P.3d 918). “Questions of contract interpretation not requiring resort to extrinsic evidence are matters of law, and on such questions we accord the trial court’s interpretation no presumption of correctness.” *Lloyd v. Lloyd*, 2009 UT App 314, ¶ 6, 221 P.3d 884 (quoting *Coalville City v. Lundgren*, 930 P.2d 1206, 1209 (Utah Ct. App. 1997)). “The district court’s construction of contract language is given no particular weight and is reviewed for correctness as a matter of law.” *Doctors’ Co. v. Drezga*, 2009 UT 60, ¶ 9, 218 P.3d 598 (citing *LDS Hosp. v. Capitol Life Ins. Co.*, 765 P.2d 857, 858 (Utah 1988)).

Preservation: This issue was preserved in Appellants’ Objection to Form and Content of Proposed Judgment and Request for Clarification of Ruling (R. 710-19);

Appellants' Reply and Opposition Memorandum (R 750- 57); oral argument held April 6, 2010 (R. 758; 902); the evidentiary hearing held June 11, 2010 (R. 777; 903); Objection to Content of Proposed Judgment (R. 790-93); and, more generally, at trial of this matter insofar as the court was asked to interpret and apply the contract in rendering its decision (*see* R. 899-901).

Issue No. 2: *If Contractor was entitled under the subcontract to withhold payment from Subcontractor, is Subcontractor entitled to any pre-judgment interest? Can Subcontractor be awarded pre-judgment interest on the amount Contractor was entitled to withhold?*

Standard of Review: "The trial court's award of prejudgment interest, and the amount thereof, present [] a question of law which we review for correctness." *Kealamakia, Inc. v. Kealamakia*, 2009 UT App 148, ¶ 4, 213 P.3d 13 (alteration in original)(internal citations and quotations omitted). "The trial court's decision on plaintiff's entitlement to prejudgment interest presents a question of law which we review for correctness." *Andreason v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 848 P.2d 171, 177 (Utah App. 1993).

Preservation: This issue was preserved in Appellants' Objection to Form and Content of Proposed Judgment and Request for Clarification of Ruling (R. 710-19); Appellants' Reply and Opposition Memorandum (R 750- 57); oral argument held April 6, 2010 (R. 758; 902); the evidentiary hearing held June 11, 2010 (R. 777; 903); Objection to Content of Proposed Judgment (R. 790-93); and, more generally, at trial of this matter

insofar as the court was asked to interpret and apply the contract in rendering its decision (see R. 899-901).

Issue No. 3: *Where expert witnesses were not identified or designated pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 26(a)(3)(A) and objections were timely raised at trial was it error for the trial court to admit such expert witness testimony? Were Appellants entitled to a new trial under Utah R. Civ. P. 59?*

Standard of Review: Interpretation of Utah R. Civ. P. 26, as well as the rest of “the Utah Rules of Civil procedure is a question of law that we review for correctness.” *Drew v. Lee*, 2011 UT 15, ¶ 7, 678 Utah Adv. Rep. 4; *Pete v. Youngblood*, 2006 UT App. 303, ¶ 7, 141 P.3d 629 (citing *Goldberg v. Jay Timmons & Assocs.*, 896 P.2d 1241, 1242 (Utah Ct. App. 1995)). “We review the trial court’s impositions of sanctions for failure to comply with those rules, including the exclusion of testimony, for an abuse of discretion.” *Id.* (citing *Featherstone v. Schaerrer*, 2001 UT 86, ¶ 31, 34 P.3d 194; *Tuck v. Godfrey*, 1999 UT App 127, ¶ 15, 981 P.2d 407). “Under our rule 59, it is well settled that, as a general matter, the trial court has broad discretion to grant or deny a motion for a new trial. Under this standard of review, we will reverse only if there is no reasonable basis for the decision.” *Smith v. Fairfax Realty, Inc.*, 2003 UT 41, ¶ 25, 82 P.3d 1064 (quoting *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 817 P.2d 789, 804-05 (Utah 1991)).

Preservation: This issue was preserved at trial (see, e.g., R. 899, pp. 91-95, 100, 106-7, 112, 118, 135, 137, 192-93, 236, 241, 245, 251, 255, 86; see also generally R. 899); in Appellants’ Motion for New Trial and the accompany memorandum and declaration (R. 830-46); the Reply Memorandum and Request for Oral Argument (R.

867-69); and the Objection to Admissibility of Exhibits, Testimony of Witnesses, and Use of Depositions (R. 629-40).

STATEMENT OF APPLICABLE PROVISIONS

Utah R. Civ. P. 26: Set forth in its entirety in App. C-1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE: This appeal involves the interpretation and enforcement of a construction contract (Ex. D-2; App. B-1). It is an appeal from the final orders and judgment of the Third District Court, Summit County, which awarded a monetary judgment for damages to Subcontractor against Contractor under the subcontract, and for damages and attorney fees to Subcontractor against Owner under Utah Code Ann. § 14-2-2.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN COURT
BELOW: The case was filed in 2005 initially as a multi-party construction dispute arising from a construction project to build a luxury condominium hotel in Deer Valley, Utah. (R. 1-13.) All other parties have been dismissed except Subcontractor (Cross-Claim Plaintiff/Appellee) and Owner and Contractor (Cross-Claim Defendants/Appellants).

On October 13, 2005, Subcontractor filed a Cross-Claim against Owner and Contractor. (R. 41-50.) The Cross-Claims alleged causes of action for mechanics' lien foreclosure, breach of contract, quantum meruit, and a claim under Utah Code Ann. § 14-2-2. (*Id.*) The Subcontractor's mechanics' lien claim was dismissed on June 21, 2007. (R. 158-68.)

On January 13, 2009, prior counsel for Owner and Contractor withdrew from the case. (R. 253-55.) Current Counsel for Owner and Contractor appeared March 23, 2009. (R. 296-97.) On May 14, 2009, Subcontractor filed a Notice of Readiness for Trial (R. 337-79) and on May 21, 2009, Owner and Contractor objected to the Notice of Readiness and requested a Rule 16 Pretrial Conference. (R. 383-86.) The primary objection to the Notice of Readiness was that neither party had yet designated any expert witnesses for trial. (*See* R. 383-86, 401-03, 904.) Because the case involved a construction dispute, counsel for Owner and Contractor felt that proper presentation of the case would necessitate the use of expert witnesses. (*See id.*) The then-controlling scheduling order, entered before current counsel for Owner and Contractor became involved in the case, cut off discovery around December 31, 2008. (R. 229-30.)

On July 21, 2009 the trial court conducted a pretrial conference. (R. 401-03.) Owner and Contractor's counsel requested that the court re-open discovery for the purposes of designating expert witnesses for use at trial and also to take two depositions that had been scheduled prior the discovery cutoff, but had been cancelled by prior counsel shortly before he withdrew. (*See* R. 401-03, 253-55, 904.) Subcontractor's counsel objected to re-opening discovery for purposes of designating expert witnesses, including the designation of Subcontractor's own expert witnesses. (R. 904, pp. 6-14.) All parties, and the trial court, were on notice that neither side was going to trial having any expert witness designated.¹ (*See* R. 401-03, 904.) The trial court allowed the

¹ Mr. Chambers (Owner's and Contractor's counsel): I don't think either side has designated an expert witness on the case. R. 904, p. 8. Mr. Martin (Subcontractor's

Owner's and Contractor's counsel to take the depositions of Bret Christiansen (Colvin Engineering employee) and Bill Payne (Shamrock employee). (*Id.*) The trial court concluded the pretrial conference by establishing a cutoff date for dispositive motions and setting the matter for a four-day bench trial beginning January 20, 2010. (*Id.*; R. 404-06; 904, pp. 6-14.

On October 20, 2009, Owner and Contractor filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Motion in Limine. (R. 432-450.) Both motions were opposed. (R. 469-492.) On December 4, 2009 the trial court entered its Ruling and Order. (R. 530-543; *see also* App. A-1.) In its Ruling and Order, the trial court found:

Thus, the motion for partial summary judgment is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part. The court finds and concludes as above, that the [Subcontractor's] work was not completed timely and that [Subcontractor] has breached the contract on that issue. The court finds and concludes also that [Subcontractor] did not give written notice of [design] deficiencies, that was a breach but the question of the materiality of that breach remains for trial.

(R. 539-40.) The motion for partial summary judgment purportedly narrowed some of the issues (*see* R. 530-43), and the matter went to trial on January 20, 21 and 22, 2010 (*see* R. 849-901). At the trial of this matter, over objections from Owner and Contractor, and to their prejudice, Subcontractor was allowed to introduce expert testimony from witnesses not designated as experts pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 26(a)(3)(A). (R. 899, pp.

counsel): We're way passed, your honor, and neither side has designated an expert. R. 904, p. 9. Mr. Chambers: What is the Court inclined to do about experts? R. 904, p. 13. The Court: (addressing Mr. Martin) You probably didn't do it because you don't see a need for one. Mr. Martin: There's no need, Your Honor. R. 904, p. 13. The Minutes of the Scheduling Conference also contains the following: "Discovery will not be opened for expert witnesses." R. 401.

91-95, 100, 106-7, 192-93, 112, 118, 135, 137, 236, 241, 245, 251, 255, 86; *see also* generally R. 899.)

On January 29, 2010, after the trial concluded, the trial court entered its decision in the form of a Memorandum Decision, awarding judgment to Subcontractor and against Contractor and Owner. (R. 665-93; *see also* App. A-2.) The trial court re-examined and changed its position with respect to one of the summary judgment rulings. (R. 678; App. A-2; *cf.* R. 530-43; App. A-1.) Post-trial proceedings were necessary based upon the Memorandum Decision. (R. 655-93; R. 902-03.) Additionally, each party filed their respective objections and a request for clarification of the trial court's memorandum decision. (R. 710-19; 730-43.)

On June 11, 2010, the trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing. On June 18, 2010 the trial court entered a Supplemental Memorandum Decision.² (R. 781-789; *see also* App. A-3.) On July 27, 2010, the trial court entered a Judgment (R. 798-801) and later modified such on July 30, 2010 to two judgments – one for \$237,518 as joint and several judgment and the other for \$49,400 against Owner only.³

On August 10, 2010 Owner and Contractor filed a motion for a new trial under Utah R. Civ. P. 59, raising again the issue of improper introduction of surprise expert

² The trial court's Memorandum Decision (R. 665-93) and Supplemental Memorandum Decision (R. 781-89) contain the formal Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law.

³ These are identified as Judgments #4 and #5, respectively, in the trial court docket. These judgments were not included in the Clerk's Certificate of Proceedings, dated February 23, 2011.

testimony. (R. 830-43.)⁴ The motion was denied on November 10, 2010. (R. 880-83.)

Appellants timely filed their notice of appeal on December 10, 2010. (R. 888-90.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Parties and Subcontract

1. Appellant Silver Baron (“Owner”) hired Appellant Daedalus as the general contractor (“Contractor”) for the construction of a luxury condominium hotel in Deer Valley, Utah. (R. 669.) Contractor hired Appellee Shamrock Plumbing (“Subcontractor”) to perform all mechanical, plumbing, and HVAC work on the construction project. (*Id.*) The mechanical, plumbing and HVAC subcontract between Contractor and Subcontractor was for \$1,119,083. (R. 670; Ex. D-2; *see also* App. B-1.) The subcontract was signed June 7, 2004, but Subcontractor actually began work in April 2004. (R. 668-70.)

2. Before the actual signing of the subcontract, Contractor went over the subcontract with Bill Payne, Subcontractor’s representative, and emphasized time frames; Contractor had a contract with Owner, which had a lease with Premier Resorts for occupancy of the units by December 1, 2004. (R. 669.) The subcontract provided that work was to commence April 26, 2004, and be substantially completed by September 20, 2004. (R. 671.) The subcontract stated time was of the essence. (*Id.*) The subcontract also provided, at ¶ 9, that contractor had the right to revise the subcontract schedule to

⁴ Judge Lubeck conducted all proceedings prior to the Motion for New Trial. Judge Lubeck was transferred to West Jordan and Judge Keith Kelly ruled on the Motion for New Trial.

accommodate changes in conditions affecting the work. (*Id.*) Paragraph 3 of the subcontract provided that Subcontractor had examined all Contract Documents, which included the specifications and schedules relevant to performing the Subcontract work. (R. 669-71, 677-78.)

Boiler – Water Heater Venting System Design Incompatibility

3. The subcontract provided, at ¶ 10:

In the event Subcontractor finds any design deficiency, error in measurements, or errors in the Contract Documents or conditions which Subcontractor believes to be at variance with approved plans, Subcontractor shall have an absolute duty to immediately provide written notice thereof to Contractor. Contractor shall have the right at any time to make changes to drawings and in the subcontract work. If any changes cause a material increase or decrease in the amount of work, Subcontractor agrees to accept any such changes subject to this paragraph and to proceed without delay in the Subcontract Work. Subcontractor shall submit a written claim for any required adjustment to the Contract Amount with a breakdown, supporting invoices and/or quotes. If Contractor or Subcontractor cannot agree on the amount of the addition or deletion, the dispute for adjustment shall be submitted to binding arbitration in Summit County, Utah, and Subcontractor shall nevertheless and unconditionally proceed with the material changes, if directed by Contractor during the pendency of arbitration. If Subcontractor makes such changes or any other changes to the Subcontract Work without written direction from Contractor, such changes constitutes an agreement by Subcontractor that it will not be paid for that changed work and Subcontractor shall be liable for any and all losses, costs, expenses, damages, and liability of any nature whatsoever associated with or in any way arising out of any such change made without written direction from Contractor. (R. 670-71; emphasis original.)

4. In April 2004, before the subcontract was signed, Subcontractor determined that two design specified items (the Bryant boiler and the A.O Smith water heaters) were

incompatible, would not function properly together, and would create a danger for human safety due to incompatible venting. (R. 673.) The Bryant boiler had a positive pressure flue and the water heaters had an atmospheric pressure flue and are not compatible. (*Id.*)

5. At the time the subcontract was signed Subcontractor did not directly advise Contractor of the design incompatibility of the two systems and Subcontractor should have done such; that given the strong language of ¶ 10 of the subcontract, that Subcontractor had an “absolute duty” to advise contractor in writing of a change in equipment or design deficiency; and that the burden was on Subcontractor to obtain approval for the boiler and venting system substitution “FROM CONTRACTOR,” not from an engineer with whom Subcontractor had no contract. (R. 675; emphasis original.) The trial court determined Subcontractor materially breached the subcontract with Contractor by failing to provide written notice of the design deficiency when it became aware of the design deficiency in the project, and then later substituted equipment (a Rite boiler for a Bryant boiler and additional venting system modifications) without authorization from Contractor. (R. 675-76, 689.) The trial court determined this was “a most material breach” and that it was Subcontractor’s responsibility to obtain Contractor’s consent by advising Contractor in writing, and that this duty under the subcontract was not fulfilled by making an oral statement well before the subcontract was even signed. (R. 675-76, 689.) The trial court observed that “Even if [Subcontractor] is correct that at the time of advising [Contractor] there was no written contract, that duty arose when the contract was signed. If, as [Subcontractor] claims, the possible danger of

having an incompatible system was life threatening, the Court finds and concludes that the duty on [Subcontractor], negotiated for by [Contractor], is clear.” (R. 676.)

6. Subcontractor installed the Rite boiler and other venting components without notice to Contractor. (*See* R. 689.) The trial court concluded that the Rite boiler was not equivalent because it was not what Contractor wanted and its upkeep and maintenance and operation involved a system Contractor specifically did not want or contract for. (*Id.*) Subcontractor also failed to properly install a “mixer valve” which caused over heating in the units until that was remedied in February 2005. (*Id.*)

7. On April 26, 2005, Contractor sent a letter to Subcontractor asking, among other things, that the non-specified defective equipment (boiler and changes to venting system) be replaced. (R. 787; Ex. D-22.) Contractor claimed the right under the subcontract to withhold payment until the specified equipment was installed. (*See* R. 787; Ex. D-2; App. B-1.) Subcontractor did not act on Contractor’s written demand. (*See* R. 783; Ex. D-19.) Subcontractor maintained throughout trial that it had the right to make “equivalent substitutions” of equipment, and that the Rite boiler and related changes to the venting systems were equivalent. Consequently, the non-specified boiler system was still in place at the time of the June 11, 2010 evidentiary hearing. (R. 899, pp. 100; R. 142-43; 903-04; 783.)

8. The court found that Contractor was entitled to what it bargained for, the contracted-for specified system and not a system of the choosing of Subcontractor, and that because of the breach, Subcontractor was responsible for either the replacement of

the boiler and allied venting system or to pay Contractor the cost of having another subcontractor do such work and provide the correct equipment. (*See* R. 690.)

9. The trial court specifically determined in Finding # 7 that ¶ 17 of the subcontract allowed Contractor to withhold payment to protect contractor from loss, including costs and attorney fees, on account of defective subcontractor work not remedied and for other reasons. (R. 672; Ex. D-2; App. B-1.) Paragraph 17 also provided that attorney fees could be sought if incurred enforcing the subcontract. (*Id.*)

10. The trial court determined the true cost of the “fix” of Subcontractor’s non-conforming work was \$80,000 and ordered the judgment to be reduced by the \$80,000 amount. (*See* R. 785.) Even though the trial court determined that Subcontractor had materially breached the subcontract, the trial court made no finding as to Contractor’s attorney fees incurred as damages in enforcing the subcontract. (*See generally* R. 665-93; 781-89; 785-86.)

Defective Installation of Mixing Valve – Overheating of Units

11. Problems with Subcontractor’s work began almost immediately after occupancy. (R. 681-82.) The luxury units, especially on the top floor, were very hot, as were the hallways. (*Id.*) The project was heated by water circulating from the boiler through the units and halls, and then coil fans blew that radiant heated air into the units and halls. (R. 682.) With the venting system installed by Subcontractor, the heat of each unit was not controlled by a thermostat in each room. (*Id.*) The boiler installed was controlled by what is called a VFD, or variable frequency driver. (*Id.*) Under the lease, Premier’s guests paid \$1000-1500 per night and had temperatures of 80 or 90 degrees F

or above, and were told to open the windows by Premier agents. (*Id.*) Most of the guests asked for and many received refunds. (*Id.*)

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