2010

White Cap Construction Supply, Inc. v. Star Mountain Construction, Inc., et al : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Shamrock should not have to suffer because Daedalus and Silver Baron designed a system they no longer want.

Respectfully, the court found Shamrock's failure to give written notice was a material breach. However, when considered in light of the above, Shamrock submits it was clearly erroneous for the court to conclude the breach was material.

IV. The appellants claim that the Daedalus/Shamrock contract allowed Daedalus and Silver Baron to withhold payment to Shamrock for the purpose of enforcing the Sub-Contract. However, Daedalus and Silver Baron mislead the Court by stating they withheld payment to enforce the Sub-Contract. They were simply delinquent in their payments and, after the fact, attempted to justify withholding under various provisions of the contract.

For example, if the system is defective, it's because they designed a defective system. Also, the substitute boiler has always performed correctly. It still does. Daedalus and Silver Baron use the boiler not only to service Building F, which was the subject of the contract, but also use it for the system in Building G. It worked in 2005. It continues to work today.

Daedalus and Silver Baron were delinquent and in default on making payments to Shamrock. Shamrock consistently billed them. They owed the majority of Shamrock's claim since December 2004. (Testimony of Craig Barrus, R. 899 pp. 31-78)

Shamrock substantially completed its work in December 2004. However, they continued to be unpaid for much of their work. (Id.)

Daedalus and Silver Baron did not inform Shamrock they were withholding payments to enforce the contract. (Id.) They took possession of the building and started renting the units. Later, in response to Shamrock's demand for payment, in February and April of 2005, Daedalus claimed unspecified equipment was faulty and they wanted it replaced. (Exhibit D-18, D-22) They never asked Shamrock to replace the boiler. (R. 899 p. 101)

The court specifically found that Shamrock did not delay the Project to the damage of Daedalus and Silver Baron. It did conclude that they were entitled to the system they expected. However, they received what they expected insofar as Shamrock built the system that Daedalus and Silver Baron designed, and contracted for Shamrock to install. (Addendum A-5, pp. 15-17, 25 ¶ 4 [sic])

Daedalus did not give Shamrock the written notice of default required by the contract. (R. 672, Addendum A-5, pp. 7-8, p. 25 ¶ 4)

V. Appellants claim they had the right to withhold under the contract and therefore should not have to pay prejudgment interest.

Daedalus incurred no monetary damages as a result of not receiving “written notice” of their own design defect. The trial court concluded:

2. Shamrock breached the contract by failing to provide written notice of its knowledge that there was a design deficiency and of Shamrock’s intent to substitute equipment. However, even considering the first breach rule, the court finds that the breach by Shamrock was not one that resulted in Daedalus’ right to fail to pay. Even though the contract has many provisions allowing Daedalus to withhold payment for various reasons, the promise of Shamrock to give written notice is not a dependent or reciprocal obligation tied to payment. The court has found that notice was given by Shamrock, but not written notice. Daedalus in letters asked Shamrock to change the system and Shamrock did not do so, but this order of the court, reducing the damages for non-payment by the amount of the re-installation of the “new” system amounts to the only damages suffered by Daedalus.
3. As found previously, Daedalus did not give written notice of termination of the contract nor declare it null and void. (R. 785-786 ¶¶ 2; Addendum A-5, p. 25 ¶ 4)

The Utah Court of Appeals has held:

A breach of contract claim requires four essential elements of proof, one of which is damages. (Cite omit) ... 'Damages' is commonly defined as 'the estimated money equivalent for detriment or injury sustained.' (Cite omit) Eleopulos v. McFarland and Hullinger LLC, 145 P.3d 1157, 1159 (UT App 2006)

The Court went on to say without proof of actual damages, the possibility of future damages is not adequate to sustain a present cause of action. (Id., 145 P.3d 1161)

In this case, Daedalus was not damaged when they didn't receive written notice of a design defect. They had actual notice.

Daedalus did not suspend the work, or refuse to perform the contract as a result of failure to receive written notice. They have consistently told the court that they stopped paying Shamrock because the hot water system did not perform to their expectations.

Bill Payne (Shamrock Plumbing) gave Roy Bartee (Daedalus Project Manager) actual notice in April 2004, before the Subcontract was signed. (F/F #12) Bartee could have told the Project Engineer (Colvin Engineering) to redesign the defect. Instead, he told Payne to "work it out" with Colvin Engineering. (F/F #12)

The subcontract was signed June 8, 2004. Paragraph 10 required Shamrock to provide written notice of design defects. At that time, Daedalus already had actual notice. Pursuant to Paragraph 15 of the subcontract, Daedalus had several remedies it could have pursued if they thought the lack of written notice was material. Instead, they told Shamrock to resolve it with the engineer, and to continue performance.

Under the doctrine of substantial compliance, Shamrock substantially performed by giving actual notice in April, and written notice in October. Daedalus received the same protection that it would have received by written notice on June 8th when the contract was signed.

In October 2004, they received written notice of the matter, and the specifications for the substitute boiler. (Addendum A-5, F/F #30) They did not object. Rather, they pressed Shamrock to continue performing the contract. In November 2004, Daedalus demanded Shamrock add additional manpower. (Id., F/F #20)

Moreover, the first breach doctrine is inapplicable when the non-breaching party chooses to proceed, and the “breaching party” has substantially performed. *See e.g.*, MUJI 26.21 The trial court held that the breach by Shamrock was not one that allowed Daedalus to withhold payment The court held:

... However, even considering the first breach rule, the court finds that the breach by Shamrock was not one that resulted in Daedalus’ right to fail to pay. Even though the contract has many provisions allowing Daedalus to withhold payment for various reasons, the promise of Shamrock to give written notice is not a dependent or reciprocal obligation tied to payment ... (R. 785 ¶ 2, Addendum A-6, p. 5 ¶ 2)

Shamrock performed all work in accordance with the drawings and specifications Daedalus provided, with the sole exception of the boiler substitution.

Shamrock has been owed a definite sum since April 2005.

U.C.A. § 15-1-1 provides for the award of interest as a matter of law. Jack B. Parson Construction Co. v. State of Utah, 552 P.2d 107 (UT 1976), McCormick on Damages, Section 55 (Horne Book Series)

As the Utah Supreme Court has said:

The policy reason for this rule 'is that, because of the delay, the debtor has the beneficial use of monies that do not belong to it. while the creditor is denied the beneficial use of those same monies to which it is legally entitled.' Vali Convalescent and Care Inst. v. Division of Health Care Fin., 797 P.2d 438, 445 (UT App 1990) (Quoting Boards of Educ. v. Salt Lake County Comm'n, 749 P.2d 1264, 1267 (UT 1988))

Shamrock has borne the cost of the equipment and manpower needed to provide Daedalus and Silver Baron with a functioning system which they've used and benefitted from for more than 6 years. Shamrock is entitled to interest on the money that the court has found due and payable since April 2005.

A contract right to temporarily withhold disputed funds is not authorization to completely forgive the failure to pay such funds. This should be especially true when Daedalus failed to send notice of default in the manner prescribed by the contract.

We found no case law that would disallow statutory interest during the pendency of a contract dispute, when the court finds a sum certain owing. Moreover, the defendants' argument certainly cannot extend to the owner, Silver Baron, whose obligation arose from its failure to require a performance bond on the Project. *See*, U.C.A. §§ 14-2-1, 14-2-2.

The court found Shamrock did the work and wasn't paid. (R. 784 ¶ 2) Addressing prejudgment interest, the court concluded:

5. As to prejudgment interest, the court again believes that Shamrock is correct, that Shamrock did not have the use of this sum owed and again the pure math figures were not really disputed. Even though this complex case shows the difficulty between sub-contractors and contractors, the court believes the sum known and certain, minus the re-installation work, is justified. Interest is to be calculated on the \$209,915 figure from April 2005 to this date. Even though the amount due is now reduced by the cost of re-installation, the court believes the sum was certain and fixed and known. In fact and in deed, the system is still working and being used by the owners after more than 5 years. It is not the system desired and bargained for, however, but under the law the court believes the sum certain was calculable now minus the re-installation cost, from April 2005. (R. 787 ¶ 5, Addendum A-6, pp. 7-8 ¶ 5)

Daedalus and Silver Baron have had the use and benefit of the system since December 2004 which Shamrock installed pursuant to their design.

VI. Appellants complain that expert witnesses were not identified and that it was error to permit expert testimony.

Discovery closed in December 2008. Then defendants' default was entered and their answer and counterclaim were "stricken and dismissed with prejudice."

(R. 281-283) Then default judgment was entered in favor of Shamrock. (R. 284-286)

Then, defendants' new attorney attempted to re-open discovery and requested the right to designate expert witnesses. The case had been prosecuted by the parties for more than 3 years. (R. 41-50)

In open court, Judge Lubeck said the case was way beyond the time in which to designate expert witnesses. In its minutes, the court said, "Discovery will not be opened for expert witnesses." (R. 401-403)

The court allowed Daedalus and Silver Baron to take the depositions of Shamrock's Bill Payne and Colvin Engineering's Bret Christiansen. (R. 404-406)

At trial, Daedalus and Silver Baron objected to the testimony of Bill Payne on the grounds it was expert testimony. (R. 899 p. 92) The trial court ruled that the fact witnesses could testify about what they did, and why they did it. (R. 899 pp. 95-96)

Bill Payne is a licensed journeyman plumber employed by Shamrock. (R. 899 p. 80) He oversaw the Project for Shamrock. (Id.) His direct testimony appears at R. 899 pp. 79-126. He was disclosed as a fact witness in Shamrock's initial disclosures. (R. 181) He testified about what he saw, what he did, and occasionally, why he did what he did.

Fact witnesses Bret Christiansen and Rusty Shoemake were identified as fact witnesses early in the litigation. Counsel discussed their intention to call them as witnesses. Later, counsel for Daedalus and Silver Baron withdrew.

Bret Christiansen was employed by Colvin Engineering. Colvin was the Project's mechanical engineer for Silver Baron and Daedalus. Christiansen's direct testimony appears at R. 899 pp. 193-207. He took over construction administration for Colvin on the Project. (R. 899 p. 194) He coordinated with Shamrock. (R. 899 p. 195) He testified about Shamrock's performance on the Project.

The attorney for Daedalus and Silver Baron took the depositions of Payne and Christiansen. None of their testimony at trial was a surprise.

Rusty Shoemake was an employee of Daedalus during the Project. He was their project superintendent. (R. 899 p. 232) His direct testimony appears at R. 899 pp. 231-255. His duties included coordinating the work of the various subcontractors on the Project. (R. 899 p. 235) He conducted weekly scheduling meetings with the subcontractors. (Id.) He was responsible for sequencing the work. (Id.)

Shoemake testified about Shamrock's compliance with the schedule and instructions given by Daedalus. (R. 899 p. 240) He testified about how he coordinated with Bartee (also Daedalus) several times each day. (R. 899 pp. 242-243) He testified about how Daedalus delayed the Project, and that Shamrock did not delay the Project. (R. 899 pp. 245-248)

Daedalus and Silver Baron were not surprised by the testimony of these 3 witnesses. Payne and Christiansen testified consistent with their depositions. The defendants chose not to depose Shoemake who was their own project superintendent.

On the other hand, Shamrock was surprised when Daedalus and Silver Baron called Wright and Bartee to give expert testimony about mechanical engineering issues. (R. 903 pp. 5, 6, 32) Neither man is a mechanical engineer. (R. 903 pp. 38, 47) But, Shamrock is not claiming their testimony was reversible error in this appeal. The trial court was capable to adjudge the credibility of the witnesses.

Even if the trial court allowed some testimony that could be perceived as expert testimony, it was harmless.

The Utah Supreme Court said:

Rule 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure reflects another established rule of appellate review:

No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence, and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.

Utah R. Civ. P. 61. Accordingly, to succeed on appeal, an appellant must show “not only that an error occurred, but that it was substantial and prejudicial in that the appellant was deprived in some manner of a full and fair consideration of the disputed issues.” Onyeabor v. Pro Roofing, Inc., 787 P.2d 525, 529 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (quoting Ashton v. Ashton, 733 P.2d 147, 154 (Utah 1987)).

Pro Max, *supra* 943 P.2d at 247.

Appellants have not shown any prejudice. There is no evidence that the testimony they allege was “expert testimony,” affected the outcome, or that there was a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result for the appellants without the testimony. There was plenty of non-objectionable testimony about the points highlighted.

If any of their testimony was “expert testimony,” it was harmless error.

Contrary to State v. Rothlisberger, 2004 UT App, 95 P.3d 1193, relied upon by the appellants, this case was not a criminal matter tried to a jury. Neither did Shamrock ask

hypothetical questions of its witnesses, calling for opinions beyond the facts of the case. The witnesses were asked what they observed, what they did, and occasionally, why they did it. The court held they were allowed. (R. 899 pp. 92-96) If any opinions were given, they were within U.R.E. 701 because they were helpful to a clear understanding of their testimony, and it was based upon their factual involvement.

Daedalus and Silver Baron were allowed to depose Payne and Christiansen after discovery was closed. They testified at trial consistent with their depositions.

When Daedalus and Silver Baron requested a new trial under Rule 60, they claimed error on the grounds that these gentlemen gave expert testimony without having been identified as expert witnesses. However, Daedalus and Silver Baron failed to present the trial court with any examples of the alleged objectionable testimony, and their motion was denied. (R. 880-883)

CONCLUSION

Shamrock asks the Court to reverse the trial court's setting aside the default judgment, and to reinstate the corrected judgment. (Addendum A-17) By doing so, all other issues raised in this appeal will be moot.

If the Court decides the trial court set aside the default judgment in accordance with U.R.C.P. 60(b), then Shamrock asks the Court to reverse the trial court's arbitrary reduction of Shamrock's judgment by an amount required to change the system designed by Daedalus and Silver Baron.

The trial court's award of prejudgment interest should be affirmed because Daedalus and Silver Baron received the system they designed, and required Shamrock to build. They have had the use and benefit of the system since December 2004.

The trial court's admission of testimony concerning the construction Project was proper. The fact witnesses testified as to what they observed, what they did, and occasionally, why they did it. If any testimony was "expert testimony," it was harmless error.

Shamrock asks the Court to award Shamrock a reasonable attorney fee for this appeal. The basis for an award of fees against Daedalus is paragraph 17 of the parties' contract that allows an award of attorney fees to the contractor (Daedalus) to enforce the contract. That entitlement is made reciprocal by U.C.A. § 78B-5-826 which provides:

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